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For my parents






Then water was washing us away,


A torrent running right over us;


Running right over us then


Were turbulent waters.





Psalm 124
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INTRODUCTION



They are buoyed on a boundless ocean. From horizon to horizon, the slick surface of the sea is black and unbroken. The darkness is over the deep, and the nearest point of land is 800 miles away.


The glory of their gilded cage now seems a mockery. Instead of being safe and warm in the singing romance of a ship at sea, the 2,200 people aboard the RMS Titanic find to their surprise that she is sinking beneath their feet.


Immersion in freezing seawater is a cruel way to die. The pitiless seizure of limbs and sudden slowing of senses will speedily siphon all life away in the ultimate loneliness of the mid-Atlantic.


The disaster claimed more than 1,500 lives, equivalent to thirty busloads packed with individuals. It was a waste of talent, wisdom and potential on a massive scale. A liner trumpeted as ‘practically unsinkable’ went down in more than 2 miles of water off the coast of Newfoundland, and did so on her maiden voyage. Only 712 escaped.


It was not glorious, nor noble, nor in any way civilized, but a repulsive roulette that separated husbands from wives, fathers from children, and whole families from the veil of life. It was very far indeed from its modern reinterpretation as a deliciously exclusive way to die.


The Titanic went down because she was steaming too fast to avoid an iceberg. She had lifeboat spaces for 1,200 passengers and crew at the very most, which meant at least 1,000 were doomed to lose their lives, unless help could be summoned from somewhere.


In the two hours and forty minutes from impact to sinking, the Titanic sent out unceasing and increasingly desperate appeals for aid by wireless. The captain and officers in that time managed to launch sixteen boats and two collapsible craft. Two other collapsibles were swept off at the terrible end and provided temporary haven for ‘lucky’ swimmers who reached them in the dark.


Yet it could all have been so different.


There was another ship there.


A ship that could have undoubtedly alleviated the unfolding nightmare. This vessel, known as the ‘mystery ship’, approached from over the horizon and stopped when between 5 and 6 miles from the Titanic.


The joy on the White Star liner when she first appeared can be imagined. Second Officer Lightoller, in charge of loading lifeboats on the port side, saw that other vessel on the port bow. He admitted in his memoirs that he reassured the Titanic’s passengers that the other ship was on her way to their succour.


It is probable that the clear sighting of a ship’s light impeded the filling of lifeboats. Men could afford to indulge their bravado at the sight of a saviour so close. Women had a reason to refuse to risk life and limb by attempting to enter a ‘cockleshell’ in the dark, 70ft up.


All unconsciously remembered the great wireless rescue of barely three years earlier. In 1909, Jack Binns, the Marconi operator of another White Star liner, the Republic, had been able to conjure a variety of ships to the rescue through the magic of the ether. It appeared the recent invention of wireless had all but banished the spectre of major sinkings.


It was a misplaced trust. Wireless operators need sleep, and many in the vicinity, like Cyril Evans on the Californian, had gone to bed by midnight, long before the Titanic began tapping out her death rattle. None of the ships that did pick up the SOS were in a position to render assistance prior to the maiden voyager vanishing beneath the waves.


Except the mystery ship. This vessel seemed to promise deliverance. Why was she coming the ‘wrong way’ on an essentially westbound shipping track if she had not picked up the distress message?


If she had picked it up, why did she not use her own wireless in turn to communicate with the Titanic, which was by then firing a fusillade of rockets to attract her attention, and signalling constantly with Morse lamps?


Perhaps she did not have wireless. Perhaps she was herself stuck in ice invisible to the Titanic, and unable to make progress. If so, why did she not instead answer the Titanic’s Morse communications? Why did she, in fact, take no action whatsoever?


But she did take action. The action she took was to eventually steam away, crushing the hope of all those on the Titanic who had pinned their trust to her so forlornly.


Without knowing the identity of the craft in question (Titanic Fourth Officer Boxhall judged her to be a three or four-masted steamer) it is impossible to answer these questions. Why did she steam away? If it was to look for a way through impeding ice, why did she not take that action sooner? Could she really have missed all the rockets? If not, what did she think they signified?


And we are brought in turn to the most chilling question of all: Is it possible that fellow seafarers, bound in the brotherhood of all who occupy their business in great waters, would knowingly discern distress and yet do nothing?


Monumental callousness!


It was for all these reasons that the first inquiry into the Titanic disaster, convened by the US Senate Subcommittee on Commerce, was anxious to pin down the identity of the mystery ship. It eventually settled on the Californian, a medium-sized tramp steamer of just over 6,200 tons, a workhorse of the Leyland Line, built in Dundee in 1901.


Like the Titanic, she was bound west that night, but for Boston, not New York. Her captain was Stanley Lord, a thirty-five-year-old shipmaster of extensive experience, who had qualified for command at a very early age. He signed a completed crew agreement on 1 April 1912 that named his chief officer as thirty-four-year-old George Stewart, with Herbert Stone and Charles Groves, both twenty-four, the other officers among a complement of fifty-five.


At 6 a.m. on 5 April 1912, the Californian left Victoria Docks, London, carrying a general cargo. It would be Captain Lord’s last full voyage as her commander. The British Inquiry, settling on the same verdict as that handed down in America, would soon see to that.


But was the mystery ship the Californian?


Doubts, argument and agitation persisted for the rest of the twentieth century. This book will, for the first time, examine the totality of evidence – particularly in light of the discovery of the Titanic’s actual wreck site in 1985, a location crucially unknown to the official investigations of seventy-three years earlier.


Great care has been taken to write this book for the ordinary reader, and it is hoped the voyage will therefore prove rewarding and revealing. Most of all, however, it is hoped that it will appeal to your common sense, in suspension of the instant judgement dispensed on both sides of the Atlantic in the wake of an appalling catastrophe.
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CALIFORNIAN STOPS


The story begins with the Californian. Bound for Boston on the evening of Sunday 14 April 1912, she had been following the course of the liner Parisian and knew from wireless warnings that field ice lay ahead in her path. Californian’s captain, Stanley Lord, had seen three icebergs to his southward that early evening and passed this intelligence by wireless to other shipping – including Titanic.


At 10.20 p.m. that night, Captain Lord spotted an icefield ahead and ordered his helm hard over, reversing engines. He came to a stop one minute later, with the Californian’s head (bow) pointing north-east. Her bow had obviously been pointing due west, until she took avoiding action to escape the ice and ended up ‘heading about northeast true’ (Lord, US p.732). A current was operating that night which would gradually bring her bow around clockwise to point due east and eventually to point due south over some hours.


For now, all that needs to be known is that the Californian was stopped. She was to remain stationary, drifting absolutely imperceptibly (the current was half a knot per hour) for the whole of that fateful night…


EVIDENCE THAT THE CALIFORNIAN WAS STOPPED


Unimpeachable evidence that the Californian was at a standstill comes from her courtesy message to the Titanic, transmitted at 11 p.m. that night, which began ‘Say Old Man, we are stopped and surrounded by ice’ and which was coldly rebuffed by the Titanic’s senior operator Jack Phillips. Californian had no reason to lie about being at a standstill, and this message was transmitted before Titanic struck her iceberg.


The following evidence was given by the Californian’s captain, Stanley Lord, to the British Inquiry, in response to question number 6701:




Later on did you have to stop on account of ice? — I had to stop and reverse engines.


6702. Would you tell us what time that was? — 10.21 p.m.


6713. Until? — 6 o’clock next morning. 5.15 a.m. we moved the engines for a few minutes and then we stopped on account of the news we received, and waited ‘til 6 o’clock.





There is no suggestion that the Californian engaged her engines at any time that night. The British Board of Trade took depositions from all of her crew on their return at Liverpool and none suggested any navigation by the Californian from 10.21 p.m. to 6 a.m., when she began to move, in response to the dreadful news of the Titanic sinking, which she had just received by wireless.


Her original intention was to wait for morning before attempting to negotiate the ice barrier confronting her. A number of Californian crew witnesses called to the official inquiries testified to the point that their vessel was stopped that night. They included the apprentice officer, James Gibson:




7422. When you came on duty at midnight, did you find that your ship had stopped? — Yes.


7423. We have been told she stopped some time before half-past ten? — Yes.





Second Officer Herbert Stone also came on duty at midnight:




7809. Did you find the ship stopped and surrounded by ice? — Yes.





Third Officer Charles Victor Groves, who was on duty until midnight, when relieved by Stone, also answered questions:




8116. And we know your steamer stopped because she got among the ice? — Yes.


8117. At 10.26 was it? — Yes, at 10.26…





Chief Officer George Frederick Stewart was also called:




8572. Did you go on duty at 4 a.m.? — Yes.


8575. Did you find that your ship was stopped? — Yes.





And Wireless Operator Cyril Evans gave the following answers:




8976. We know she did [stop], about 10.25, your ship’s time? — Yes.


8977. Did you go on deck when you found the ship had stopped? — Yes.


8978. I think you found the Captain and the Chief Engineer discussing the matter? — Yes.





Captain Lord and W/O Evans also gave evidence in the US Inquiry, similarly claiming that the Californian was stationary that night.


Californian witnesses are unanimous in this regard. Absolutely no-one makes any suggestion to the contrary. This is important, as we shall see in due course.


Meanwhile it should be borne in mind that the 11 p.m. wireless warning to the Titanic – ‘we are stopped and surrounded by ice’ – independently confirms the Californian’s immobility, and does so in advance of Titanic’s collision. The evidence indicates that the Leyland liner SS Californian was stopped all night. To suggest otherwise is to suspect a mass conspiracy to deceive by every single man aboard Californian, when in fact her witnesses would tell very different stories in relation to their individual sightings that night.


[image: images]


A telegraph from the Senate in Washington to the US Marshal at Boston, instructing him to serve subpoenas on the captain and wireless operator of the California (sic). The instruction was carried out at 7 p.m. on 25 April 1912, an hour after receipt of this message.


There was no ‘agreed story’, except on one very salient fact: the Californian was immobile. This is a single important certainty on a night of myriad uncertainties.
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THE SHIP NOT SEEN BY TITANIC


The ship seen by the Titanic in her throes of distress became known as the ‘mystery ship’. She is the vessel charged by Titanic survivors with not going to their assistance at a time when the Titanic must have been brilliantly visible to the stranger and was both flashing Morse lamps and firing rockets to summon assistance.


The first thing to be said about the mystery ship, however, is that she was not discernible before the Titanic had her emergency, nor when she had completed her failed attempt to evade the iceberg, and had come to rest. Thus the mystery ship was initially not seen by Titanic, and this is a point worthy of particular and careful note.


It was the duty of the Titanic’s lookouts to report anything they saw. This might seem obvious but it needs to be reinforced. Frederick Fleet (one of the lookouts when she struck the iceberg and for up to forty-five minutes afterwards) stated that ‘We are only up there to report anything we see’ (US Inquiry, p.318). Senator Smith (Chairman of the US Inquiry) pursued this statement, pressing Fleet on the issue:




Smith: But you are expected to see – and report – anything in the path of the ship, are you not?


Fleet: Anything we see – a ship, or anything.


Smith: Anything you see?


Fleet: Yes; anything we see.





Fred Fleet and Reginald Lee, the other lookout, did not see another ship or light on the horizon before, during, or after the collision until their shift was relieved at 12.23 a.m. They were serving an extended watch because the Titanic’s clocks were due to be put back that night.


If the Californian was the Titanic’s mystery ship, it ought to have been seen by Fleet and Lee, as the Californian was stationary, and had been for over an hour at this point. Fleet was adamant, however:




Senator Smith: Were there lights of any other vessels in sight when you came down from the crow’s nest?


Fleet: There was NO lights AT ALL when we was up in the crow’s nest. This is after we was down and on the boats; then I seen the light.





Fleet was pressed on this point at the British Inquiry too. Here is his emphatic denial:




17429. Did you see this light on the port bow before you left the crow’s nest? — No, it must have been about 1 o’clock.


17430. Did you observe it before you left the Titanic?


17430a. [The Commissioner] He says he saw it at 1 o’clock. [To the Witness]: When did you leave the Titanic, at what time?


Fleet: I think I got into the water in the boat about 1 o’clock.


17431. And it was about that time that you saw this light? — Or just a little before it; about that time.





Reg Lee, Fleet’s lookout colleague in the crow’s nest, did not see a light either while on duty:




2419. Before half-past eleven on that watch had you reported anything at all, do you remember? — There was nothing to be reported.





Yet Captain Lord of the Californian stated this:




7118/9. How far do you think your [masthead] lights would be observable by another ship? — I suppose the masthead lights you would see 7 or 8 miles. 8 miles I should think.


7120. Suppose the Titanic was 7 or 8 miles from you between 11.30 and 12 o’clock, would those on her bridge have been able to see your lights? — Easily.





Captain Lord said the officers on the Titanic’s bridge ought ‘easily’ to have seen lights if the Californian had indeed been 7 and 8 miles away. If it would have been an easy task on the bridge, how much easier would it have been from the lofty crow’s nest, where the lookouts were stationed? The crow’s nest was about 20ft higher than the bridge (question 2616) in order to give the lookouts just such an advantage over the bridge in surveying the full sweep of sea and sky.


It should be noted here that the limit of the visible horizon on this night would have been of the order of 10 to 12 miles – possibly more, since it was a spectacularly clear night.


Consider what the Titanic’s senior surviving officer, Second Officer Charles Lightoller, testified about lookout abilities on clear nights:




14309. The [lookout] man may, on a clear night, see the reflection of [a] light before it comes above the horizon. It may be the loom of the light and you see it sometimes sixty miles away.





If the mystery ship soon to be seen by the Titanic was the Californian, let us re-state then, that she, the Californian, was absolutely stationary. And if the Californian was the mystery ship, and stationary, then she should have been seen in advance of the collision by Fleet and Lee, the lookouts.


But she was not seen.


The lookouts, if indeed the Californian was to be the mystery ship, should have seen her as a light on the horizon long before the collision with the ‘berg. Titanic observers, when they finally noticed the mystery ship, put her at an average distance of 5 miles. Less than halfway to the horizon!


If this light had always been stationary, only to be subsequently seen at 5 miles, and if the Titanic’s visible horizon was always a minimum of 10 miles (as it assuredly was), then at a pre-crash speed of 22 knots, the Titanic ought to have seen the light prior to impact for up to fifteen minutes! This is simple maths.


But no such light was seen. Not before impact, and not for a considerable time thereafter. Remember, it was the lookouts’ duty to report lights all over the horizon. ‘Anything we see’, was the phrase Fleet used to describe their responsibilities. Before the impact, he and Lee had been ‘looking all over the place, all around’ (US, p.322). After the Titanic struck, it would have been particularly important for them to scan the 360 degree horizon. For a light! They should have been looking for precisely that: another ship. And they stayed on duty, diligently looking out, after the collision (US, p.319):




Fleet: I kept staring ahead again.


Senator Smith: You remained in the crow’s nest?


Fleet: I remained in the crow’s nest until I got relief.





They were relieved at 12.23 a.m., almost three-quarters of an hour after the collision at 11.40 p.m. And they had seen no light.
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THE SHIP SEEN BY TITANIC


At last we come to the mystery ship, not previously seen, which now approached the Titanic, in the words of a senior surviving witness, Titanic Fourth Officer Joseph Groves Boxhall. Boxhall was the officer who watched this vessel, initially through binoculars, as she came ever closer to the stricken Titanic. He was adamant until his death that the ship he saw had ventured towards the RMS Titanic until the visitor next turned and stopped. This is what he stated at the US Inquiry (p.236):




Senator Smith: Were the two masthead lights the first lights that you could see?


Boxhall: The first lights.


Sen. Smith: And what other lights?


Boxhall: And then, as she got closer, she showed her side light, her red light.


Sen. Smith: So you were quite sure she was coming in your direction?


Boxhall: Quite sure.





Elsewhere in the inquiry, Boxhall declares (US Inquiry, p. 235):




Boxhall: I saw his masthead lights and I saw his side light.


Sen. Smith: In what direction?


Boxhall: Almost ahead of us.





And later, he offers more details (US Inquiry, p.910) :




Boxhall: She was headed toward us, meeting us.


Senator Fletcher: Was she a little toward your port bow?


Boxhall: Just about half a point off our port bow.





And, from the British Inquiry:




Boxhall: I submitted the [SOS] position to the Captain first, and he told me to take it to the Marconi room.


15392. And then you saw this light which you say looked like a masthead light? — Yes, it was two masthead lights of a steamer.


15393. Could you see it distinctly with the naked eye? — No, I could see the light with the naked eye, but I could not define what it was; but by the aid of a pair of glasses I found it was the two masthead lights of a vessel, probably about half a point on the port bow, and in the position she would be showing her red if it were visible, but she was too far off then.


15394. Could you see how far off she was? — No, I could not see, but I had sent in the meantime for some rockets … I was sending rockets off and watching this steamer. Between the time of sending the rockets off and watching the steamer approach us I was making myself generally useful…





Boxhall was sure that the mystery ship was ‘approaching’, ‘coming’, ‘meeting us’, getting closer, ‘headed toward’ Titanic. The Californian was stationary. The mystery ship was not. When did he see her first?


The evidence shows that it was after he had reckoned a revised SOS position (41° 46’ N, 50° 14’ W), a wireless position that was transmitted and heard by other ships, at what the British Inquiry decided was 12.25 a.m. Titanic time. Boxhall gave the following responses:




15388. Before I saw this light I went to the chart-room and worked out the ships position.


15389. Is that the position we have been given already – 41° 46’ N, 50° 14’ W? — That is right [Boxhall had earlier estimated a position of 41° 44’ N, 50° 24’ W, which the Titanic had been sending out from 12.15 a.m., until this position was revised ten minutes later].





Boxhall had first discerned a ship some time after revising the distress position at 12.25 a.m. It is likely therefore that the far-off light was not seen before 12.30 a.m., since lookouts Fleet and Lee had descended from the crow’s nest, their shift having ended at 12.23 a.m. with nothing seen.


It is important to emphasise that there was no light seen for three-quarters of an hour between the time of impact, 11.40 p.m., and at least 12.23 a.m., when Fleet and Lee left the crow’s nest.


Crew duty watches were due to change at this time, with a plan to put back Titanic’s time to midnight once 12.23 a.m. was reached. The clocks were to go back forty-seven minutes that night and it was to be done in two stages – twenty-three minutes and twenty-four minutes, at the end of elongated midnight and 4 a.m. watches. This was to allow for Titanic’s noon to be approximately correct as the vessel steamed ever westward.


The following is from the US Inquiry (p.460), when Quartermaster Robert Hichens was called:




Senator Smith: You left the wheelhouse that Sunday night at?


Hichens (interposing): Twenty-three minutes past 12.


Sen. Smith: Your watch had not expired?


Hichens: My watch had expired; yes.





Senator Smith also questioned Fleet on the issue:




Sen. Smith: How long a watch did you have?


Fleet: Two hours; but the time was going to be put back that watch.


Sen. Smith: The time was to be set back?


Fleet: Yes, sir.


Sen. Smith: Did that alter your time?


Fleet: We were to get about 2 hours and 20 minutes. (On watch from 10 p.m. to 12.23 a.m.)





Meanwhile Lee, Fleet’s crow’s nest colleague, would testify that he left the crow’s nest at 12 a.m. – which time it was indeed, by the changed clock (see US Inquiry, p.317).


Boxhall, we know, first saw the mystery ship at half a point off the port bow, virtually straight in front of the ship and the lookout cage or crow’s nest. Yet it was only the relief lookouts who took over from 12.23 a.m. who later reported the remote light, said Fleet.


So, what does half a point off the port bow mean? There are thirty-two points on a compass, that is, eight in each quadrant, a quadrant being the area delineated by, for example, west and north. To understand ‘half a point off the port bow,’ imagine a place halfway between 11 and 12 on a clock face – effectively the position of the hour hand when the time is at 11.30. ‘One point’ is actually closer to 12, or the bow of a ship, than this. And half a point is closer again. It is the compass equivalent of just one minute to midnight on a clockface, therefore representing just a tiny amount off the port bow.


This mystery ship will eventually move from ‘half a point’ to two points and more off the port bow when further observed, which is indicative of movement, since the Titanic has stopped after impact, although she may drift slowly thereafter. Furthermore, this strange ship has come from being non-existent before 12.23 a.m., to being close enough for a single light to be spotted by Boxhall, then closer still, so that two masthead lights are discernible, until finally being so close that a port-side red light is discernible along with all other lights .


That’s movement. The Californian, according to the evidence of her crew, was stationary.


A note about side lights: ships carried them to indicate what side they were presenting. A red light was carried on the port side and a green one to starboard. Side lights will become important again later in this analysis, but for now the only salient fact for this argument is that visible side lights indicate closeness.


The question of how close a side light needs to be in order to be visible is answered by some of those called to the inquiries. Charles Groves, Third Officer on SS Californian, was questioned on the issue (question 8419): ‘What is the average range of an ordinary ship’s side light? — Two miles’. William Lucas, Titanic AB, was also called, and suggested (question 1802): ‘Could you see a side light eight or nine miles distant? — A night like that I could’.


Boxhall suggested in the US Inquiry (p.934):




…I have already stated, in answer to a question, how far this ship was away from us, that I thought she was about 5 miles, and I arrived at it in this way. The masthead lights of a steamer are required by the Board of Trade regulations to show for 5 miles, and [side lights] are required to show for 2 miles.


Senator Burton: You could see that distance on such a night as this?


Boxhall: I could see quite clearly.


Sen. Burton: You saw not only the mast light but the side lights?


Boxhall: I saw the side lights. Whatever ship she was, she had beautiful lights. I think we could see her lights more than the regulation distance…





It should be noted again that the visible horizon from the Titanic’s boat deck this starlit night would have been of the order of 10 to 12 miles. A light high out of the water could be seen for another few miles.


In summary then, Boxhall saw the red side light of that mystery vessel, and concluded she was ‘about 5 miles away’, this mystery vessel having approached over the horizon, from an unseen position, to stop halfway to Titanic. And Californian was stationary. All night.


Boxhall was not alone on the Titanic in witnessing the strange ship approaching. Able Seaman Edward Buley offers the following information (pp.611–612, US Inquiry):




…Yes, sir; I saw it (the light) from the ship. That is what we told the passengers. We said, ‘There is a steamer coming to our assistance’. That is what kept them quiet, I think.


Senator Fletcher: Did that boat seem to be getting farther away from you?


Buley: No; it seemed to be coming nearer.


Sen. Fletcher: You are possessed of pretty good eyes?


Buley: I can see … 21 miles, sir.


Sen. Fletcher: Did she come toward you bow on?


Buley: Yes, sir; bow on toward us, and then she stopped…





Boxhall said she approached bow on, eased to starboard and stopped, showing her red light broadside.


Third class passenger Olaus Abelseth (p.1037, US Inquiry):




I could not say, but it [a light off the port bow] did not seem to be so very far. I thought I could see this mast light, the front mast light. That is what I thought I could see. A little while later there was one of the Officers who came and said to be quiet, that there was a ship coming. That is all he said.





Second Officer Lightoller later wrote of reassuring passengers in this way.



BOXHALL AND CAPTAIN SMITH


We know Fleet and Lee, the lookouts, did not see the light of a ship during their watch, which ended twenty-three minutes after midnight. But if the Californian was stationary nearby, then she ought to have been seen. Yet it seems to have been the relieving pair, the ‘other lookout’, who first reported the light. This appears to have happened around 12.30 a.m. or shortly thereafter. Boxhall had computed a new SOS position before seeing the light, he testified, and this new position was first transmitted by the Titanic at 12.25 a.m., meaning he first saw the light only after this time. Fleet testifies (US Inquiry, p. 328):




Fleet: There was no lights at all when we was up in the crow’s nest. This is after we was down and on the [life]boats; then I seen the light.


Senator Smith: Where did you see it?


Fleet: On the port bow. The other lookout reported it.


Sen. Smith: How far ahead?


Fleet: It was not ahead; it was on the bow, about four points.


Sen. Smith: I am not speaking of that. I wanted to know whether you saw ahead, while you were on the watch, on the lookout, Sunday night, after the collision occurred or before, any lights of any other ship.


Fleet: No, sir.


Sen. Smith: You saw no lights at all?


Fleet: No, sir.





Fleet had been on duty with Reginald Lee, but we know that the phrase ‘other lookout’ does not refer to his crow’s nest partner, because Lee testified to seeing nothing during the time when he was either on duty, or on deck, with Fleet:




2564. When the steamer struck, was there any light of any other vessel to be seen? — [Lee] No.


2574. Does that mean that you only saw that light after the Titanic sank? — After I was in the (life) boat, after leaving the ship.


2576. Before she sank had you seen that light? — No. It was only after being in the boat and away from the ship that we saw that light.





If Lee didn’t report the light to Fleet, then it is most likely that Fleet’s remark about the ‘other lookout’ means the relief pair of Alred Hogg and Frank Evans who ascended the crow’s nest to take over lookout duty at 12.23 a.m. Slated to stay in the crow’s nest until 2 a.m., they instead came down after twenty minutes on watch.


Hogg gave evidence at both inquiries, but incredibly was never asked whether he had seen a ship’s light – whether in the nest, or later on deck. He says he did telephone the bridge after noticing confusion on deck, but received no answer.


The British Inquiry never teased out the point about when the mystery light was first seen, and in fact it failed to call Evans, Hogg’s partner, at all. Hogg himself was treated only as a witness in relation to the lifeboat he eventually joined!


Let us recap: if the Californian was this light that appeared, then that light was necessarily stationary – and the relief lookouts should have seen it at once, even allowing for bizarre blindness on the part of Fleet and Lee. But the impression from the evidence is that some further time elapsed before the light that would become the mystery ship was first reported.


Let us briefly re-examine Boxhall before seeing which other witnesses corroborate his version of a ship that approaches so close that even the colour of her side lights can be discerned.


The following is a transcript of Boxhall at the British Inquiry:




15400. Did you watch the lights of this steamer while you were sending the rockets up? — Yes.


15401. Did they seem to be stationary? — I was paying most of my attention to this steamer then, and she was approaching us; and then I saw her side lights. I saw her green light and the red. She was end on to us. Later I saw her red light. This is all with the aid of a pair of glasses up to now. Afterwards I saw the ship’s red light with my naked eye, and the two masthead lights. The only description of the ship that I could give is that she was, or I judged her to be, a four-masted steamer.


15403. Did the ship make any sort of answer, as far as you could see, to your rockets? — I did not see it. Some people say she did, and others say she did not. There were a lot of men on the bridge. I had a Quartermaster with me, and the Captain was standing by, at different times, watching this steamer.


15404. Do you mean you heard someone say she was answering your signals? — Yes, I did, and then she got close enough, and I Morsed to her – used our Morse lamp.





And slightly later in the Inquiry:




15408. Then you thought she was near enough to Morse her from the Titanic? — Yes, I do think so; I think so yet.


15409. [The Commissioner] What distance did you suppose her to be away? — I judged her to be between 5 and 6 miles when I Morsed to her, and then she turned round – she was turning very, very slowly – until at last I only saw her stern light, and that was just before I went away in the boat.





The Californian was stationary. But it is clear that Boxhall saw a ship approaching head on, corroborating Buley’s statement, showing both her side lights, until this ‘four-masted steamer’ turned to starboard, easing away to the left as the Titanic watched, showing her port (left) side light – the red one – to the Titanic.


‘At last’ she showed her stern light, which is always white, and the mystery ship eventually moved away.


Boxhall says the captain of the Titanic, E.J. Smith, ‘was standing by, at different times, watching this steamer’. Smith, a vastly experienced mariner, the most senior captain of the White Star Line, thus implicitly agrees with Boxhall that the mystery ship was initially coming closer. More than that, Captain Smith instructed Boxhall to send Morse code flashes with the message ‘come at once, we are sinking’. This was no mere SOS, but a detailed transmission, sent with the expectation that the other ship would be able to read and understand the detail due to its close proximity.


Boxhall states (US Inquiry, p.235):




…She got close enough, as I thought, to read our electric Morse signal, and I signalled to her; I told her to come at once, we were sinking; and the Captain was standing… I told the Captain about this ship, and he was with me most of the time when we were signalling.


Senator Smith: Did he also see it?


Boxhall: Yes, sir.


Sen. Smith: Did he tell you to do anything else to arrest its attention?


Boxhall: I went over and started the Morse signal. He said, ‘Tell him to come at once, we are sinking’.





This is a Morse lamp, which flashes dots and dashes in Morse and can typically be seen for a range of 5 miles. Boxhall says, in answer to question 15409: ‘I judged her to be between 5 and 6 miles when I Morsed to her’.


Stanley Lord of the Californian would tell the US Inquiry that his vessel had ‘a very powerful Morse lamp’, adding: ‘I suppose you can see that about 10 miles’ (p.729). The Titanic’s Morse lamp, in other words, would certainly have been visible to the new arrival, especially on such a clear night. One Morse lamp was mounted on top of each bridge-wing, with its flashes operated from a keyboard located below.


[image: images]


A ship’s Morse lamp was a powerful communications tool. The Titanic had two, located on top of the wing-cabs on either side of the bridge. The flashes ought to have been easily discernible, but Titanic’s appeals were ignored by the mystery ship. Captain Lord testified that the Californian’s own lamp could be read at a distance of 10 miles. He ordered repeated sessions of signalling to his vessel’s nearby steamer, but it too remained unresponsive.


Yet despite the Titanic being only 5 or 6 miles distant from the mystery ship in the estimate of Boxhall (and in the implied agreement of Captain Smith), the officers aboard the critically-wounded new luxury liner could not detect any positive response whatsoever to their Morsing:




15412. Did [anyone on Titanic see the mystery ship] Morsing in answer to your Morse signals? —


[Boxhall] They did not say she Morsed, but they said she showed a light. Then I got the Quartermaster [George Rowe] who was with me to call her up with our lamps, so that I could use the glasses to see if I could see signs of any answer; but I could not see any.


15413. You could not see any with the glasses? — No; and Captain Smith also looked, and he could not see any answer.


15414. He also looked at her through the glasses? — Yes.





It will be shown later that the Californian, coincidentally, could also see an unknown ship in her own location. This is a coincidence too far for some, but will be closely examined later. Meanwhile it is important to note that the Californian’s evidence was that she herself flashed a Morse lamp repeatedly at her own stranger and never received an answer.


Those who were Morsing the neighbouring vessel from Californian said their stranger was a small to medium-sized cargo steamer only 5 miles away. But if the Californian, with her ‘powerful’ Morse lamp, really lay only 5 to 6 miles from Titanic, then her visual signals ought to have been clearly seen on the Titanic on a night of brilliant visibility. After all, Captain Smith of the RMS Titanic imagined that his mystery ship could read a complicated message: ‘come at once, we are sinking’. Californian’s Morse light, being very powerful, should have been seen at ‘about ten miles’. The Titanic, lying 5 to 6 miles away from a puzzling presence, could detect no Morse replies.


Since neither inquiry ever disputed the evidence that the Californian repeatedly Morsed a vessel that approached her and stopped, the implication must be, once again, that the stationary yet Morsing Californian was not the RMS Titanic’s approaching and uncommunicative stranger.


Let us return to the suggestion from the evidence that Captain Smith shares Boxhall’s conviction that the Titanic’s mystery ship has moved close. Bedroom steward Alfred Crawford separately provides corroboration of Captain Smith’s conclusion that the mystery ship was close enough to Morse by lamp. Crawford went away in boat No.8, one of the early boats, launched from the port side at 1.10 a.m. He said he was ordered to use his oars to row to the nearby vessel! In question 17964 at the British Inquiry, Commissioner Mersey suggested: ‘The gentleman who gave you that order must, I suppose, have thought that the lights that were visible were close to? Did Captain Smith say to you “Make for those lights”?’ Crawford replied: ‘He did’. Mersey went on to ask whether Smith ordered Crawford to ‘Put your passengers on board that ship with those lights and then come back here’ (17965). Crawford replied ‘Yes, my Lord’. The Commissioner continued: ‘Then I presume – I do not know – that he must have thought those lights were close to. I do not at present think he is right about that’.


The first part of this observation by the President of the British Inquiry makes sense, and is in accordance with the evidence. The latter part indicates, perhaps, a desire that it should be the other way! Commissioner Mersey would eventually convict the Californian of being the mystery ship.


Seaman Thomas Jones and passenger Mrs J. Stuart White were both also in boat No.8, and back up Crawford (US Inquiry, p.570):




Jones: This No.8 boat was there… I jumped in the boat. The Captain asked me was the plug in the boat, and I answered, ‘Yes, sir’… He told me to row for the light, and land the passengers and return to the ship. I pulled for the light, and I found that I could not get near… I had to carry out the Captain’s orders and pull for that light; so I did so.


Senator Newlands: Who was the officer on the port side who gave you your directions? — The Captain.


Sen. Newlands: The Captain himself? — Yes, sir.





And Mrs White’s evidence follows (US Inquiry, p.1007):




Mrs White: We simply rowed away. We had the order, on leaving the ship, to do that. The officer who put us in the boat – (I do not know who he was whether an officer or the Captain) – gave strict orders to the seamen, or the men, to make for the light opposite and land the passengers and get back just as soon as possible. That was the light that everybody saw in the distance.





Further corroboration is given by the Countess of Rothes in an interview with The Journal of Commerce, 24 April 1912:




Captain Smith stood next to me as we got in, and told Tom Jones, a sailor who acted nobly, to row straight for those ship lights over there, land the passengers aboard, and return as soon as possible.


For three hours we pulled steadily for the lights seen three miles away; then we saw a port light vanish and the masthead lights grow dimmer until they disappeared.





The Countess is clearly talking about ship lights that subsequently moved away. The Californian, by the evidence of all aboard, did not move at all during this timeframe.


Meanwhile, Captain Smith was still giving those same orders later, to boat No.6, launched after No.8. Mrs Lucian P. Smith recalled that: ‘The Captain looked over to see us… there was a small light on the horizon that we were told to row towards’ (US Inquiry, p.1150); Quartermaster Robert Hichens states: ‘I think I got in No.6 boat, sir; put in charge of her by the second officer, Mr Lightoller. We lowered away from the ship, sir, and were told to “Pull toward that light”’ (US Inquiry, p.451).


Nightwatchman James Johnson was saved with Fourth Officer Boxhall in boat No.2, whose departure was officially put at 1.45 a.m. He suggested Captain Smith could still see the light at this late stage:




3677. Did you hear any order given by the Captain as to the sending away of your boat? — I think it was the Captain told us to make for that light and come back again.


3678. Did you hear him tell the fourth officer to go away? —Yes, and come back.





And, from the US Inquiry affidavit of Mrs Mahala Douglas (p.1101):




Mr Boxhall was trying to get the boat off, and called to the Captain on the bridge, ‘There’s a boat coming up over there’. The Captain said ‘I want a megaphone’…





So Captain Smith agreed with Boxhall that the ship had approached, and he believed her to be coming closer; indeed, so close that he might finally be able to hail her to issue instructions. Such closeness is simply inconsistent with both Titanic and Californian missing Morse.



TITANIC’S OTHER OFFICERS


Three considerations, arguably, ought to guide the reader on the movement question surrounding the Titanic’s mystery ship.


Firstly, most credibility should be given to those who watched that ship, being tasked to that essential duty if all aboard Titanic were to be saved, rather than to those who commented on the basis of casual glances or impressions. Essentially this means concentrating on Fourth Officer Boxhall, whose account is unwavering about an approaching ship, and who finds implied support in his account from Captain Smith (who did not survive) as well as specific support from fellow officers who were saved.


Secondly, weight must be placed where it properly resides for observations at sea at night: with those trained to the task. This means officers of the watch and lookouts. Fred Fleet testified that he and Lee saw no other ship before or after the collision until a light was reported after they had climbed down from the crow’s nest and were on duty at the boats.


Thirdly, we should favour observations from the boat deck of the Titanic, with its 70ft vantage point above sea level, rather than impressions gained from the hopelessly unreliable sea level viewpoint of a person in a lifeboat.


To recap a moment: Do we imagine both lookouts could have missed the stationary Californian over forty-five minutes? And do we also imagine that Boxhall is next in error by managing to see the immobile Californian, yet somehow imagining her to be moving instead of stationary? Do we further imagine that Captain Smith of the Titanic, while not making the ‘invisible’ mistake of Fleet and Lee, happens to make a different mistake about that ship, yet the same mistake as Boxhall, which led Boxhall to believe that Smith fully agreed with his assessment of the mystery ship’s approach?


These four glaring ‘mistakes’ by key eyewitnesses must each happen in turn, it would appear, if the Californian is to be even considered as the mystery ship. Lookouts Fleet and Lee, Officer Boxhall and Captain Smith must all, separately and together, be mistaken on that night in 1912 if we are to believe those who later equated the Californian with the mystery ship. The Californian cannot have been moving: she was indeed stopped. So if she was stopped, the lookouts should have seen her. And when Boxhall and Smith saw her to be moving, they should instead have seen her as stationary. By far the greater likelihood, one would imagine, is that Fleet, Lee, Boxhall and Smith are correct, as the testimony (or implied witness) of all four is consistent with the late appearance of a moving ship and nothing else.


Let us examine now the evidence of those men to whom we must give the greatest weight in evidence. Not Titanic cooks or bedroom stewards, nor barbers nor greasers, nor even landlubber passengers. But the other officers of the RMS Titanic.


Chief Officer Wilde, First Officer Murdoch and Sixth Officer Moody were all lost in the disaster and offered no evidence to the inquiries. Captain Smith was lost too, but we have second-hand accounts of his attitude and behaviour. What of the surviving officers? Take these prime survivors in order: Second Officer Charles Lightoller, Third Officer Herbert Pitman, Fourth Officer Joseph Boxhall (already mentioned), and Fifth Officer Harold Lowe.


Second Officer Charles Herbert Lightoller saw:




14138. A white light about two points on the port bow; whether it was one or two lights I could not say. As to whether it was a mast-head light or a stern light, I could not say. I was perfectly sure it was a light attached to a vessel, whether a steamship or a sailing ship I could not say. I could not distinguish any other coloured lights, but merely it was a white light, distinct and plain.


14140. [The Commissioner] Can you form any estimate of the distance of the light from the Titanic? — Yes, my Lord; certainly not over 5 miles away.





And a little later in the Inquiry:




14145. Did you observe it yourself, or was your attention called to it? — No, I noticed it.


14147. Other people saw it, too, I suppose. Did you continue to see it when you looked from that time forward until the ship went down, or did it disappear?


Lightoller — I cannot say how long I noticed it. I saw it perhaps half an hour, probably about half an hour. I can recollect seeing it for about half an hour.





Lightoller elsewhere insisted this vessel was stationary – which it could have been, by the time he saw it, and he noticed it for just half an hour. Lightoller, who was phenomenally busy all night, also mentions a stern light. Boxhall’s mystery ship, having been stationary, eventually turned until all he could see was a stern light, going away, as he told the British Inquiry, in reponse to question 15409.


Third Officer Herbert Pitman, who also saw the light as stationary, stated:




15061. Whilst you were in the (life)boat and before the ship sank, did you see any light or lights which you took to be the light or lights of another steamer? — [Pitman] I saw a white light which I took to be the stern light of a sailing ship.


15062. How far away did you judge it to be? — I thought it was about five miles.


15063. That would be a good distance to see a stern light, would it not? — Yes, it may have been less.


15064. Was it a good night for seeing a light; for seeing a good stern light? — An excellent night.





This is the evidence of Fifth Officer Harold Lowe:




15825. Did you look for any lights at this time at all? — [Lowe] As I was getting the emergency boat ready, No.1, Mr Boxhall was firing the detonators, the distress signals, and somebody mentioned something about a ship on the port bow, and I glanced over in that direction casually and I saw a steamer there.


15826. What did you see of her? — I saw her two masthead and her red side lights.





Fifth Officer Lowe therefore agrees with Fourth Officer Boxhall. He too saw a red side light. Lowe was working at boat No.1 at the time, which went off around 1.10 a.m. Pitman and Boxhall would seem to agree on seeing a late stern light. Lightoller could only distinguish a vessel near at hand.


So here we are: all the surviving Titanic officers – Lightoller, Lowe, Boxhall and Pitman – see a close ship, at an average estimation of 5 miles away. That ship was not seen previously. The surviving officers all first see her long after the iceberg collision. And Boxhall, like Captain Smith, observed her with binoculars. Boxhall, who survived, said he was ‘absolutely sure’ about the steamer’s approach.


Consider Boxhall’s critical duty and onerous responsibility at this time of emergency. Would he really report his time-consuming observations utterly incorrectly? He needs glasses to make out the light at first, but later says he can see her side light with his naked eye, just as Lowe (and other crew, as we shall see) can also see it and identify its colour with their naked eyes, all in complete agreement. And this, after lookouts previously couldn’t see any light, never mind anything as close as red or green side lights (designed to be visible at 2 miles). It is submitted that there can only be one conclusion, based on the evidence: That the mystery ship was moving at some stage. Yet it is uncontested that the Californian was stationary all night.
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A RED LIGHT’S IMPORTANCE


The official verdict in 1912 – that the Titanic’s mystery ship was the Californian – pays no attention to the testimony about the mystery ship eventually showing a stern light, as outlined by the officer witnesses in the previous chapter.


Yet because the Californian was pointing north-east when she stopped at 10.21 a.m. (see the beginning of this book), and knowing her rate of drift, it is inescapably true that she would never have shown her stern light to the Titanic that night. Pointing north-east, and drifting very slowly in a clockwise direction, the Californian would have shown any observer to the southward and eastward a green side light, on her starboard side (red light showing to port). And it is known from the location of the wreck site that the Titanic was indeed both to the south and east of the Californian’s cited stop position. Therefore the Titanic ought to have seen the Californian’s green side light, not her red. It is critically important to grasp this irreducible verity.


A ship has two side lights. The Californian pointing north-east would have thrown light like this ‘%’, the circles to either side of the percentage sign representing her port and starboard lights. The port light, left side, was red. The starboard light, right side, was green. If the mystery ship was the Californian, then not only should she have been stopped instead of moving, but she should also have shown the Titanic her green light, not her red.


Boxhall (US Inquiry, p.933) states:




I saw the masthead lights first, the two steaming lights; and then, as she drew up closer, I saw her side lights through my glasses, and eventually I saw the red light. I had seen the green, but I saw the red most of the time. I saw the red light with my naked eye.





And it is clear that use of the word ‘eventually’ refers only to the mystery steamer turning to starboard as she came closer, thus showing her red. The following extract shows that Boxhall saw the red light almost from the beginning (US Inquiry, p.236):




Senator Smith: Were the two masthead lights the first lights that you could see? — The first lights.


Sen. Smith: And what other lights? — And then, as she got closer, she showed her side light, her red light.


Sen. Smith: So you were quite sure she was coming in your direction? — Quite sure.





In other words, the red light that Boxhall sees arrives too quickly to be the product of the Californian drifting clockwise interminably until she finally shows the red light on her port side. Officer Lowe, we have established, also saw a red light when he casually glanced up at the stranger while working at lifeboat No.1 at 1.10 a.m.


So, who else saw a red light on the mystery ship? Nightwatchman James Johnson:




3482. Did you see that light from the deck of the Titanic? — I should think we saw it for about twenty minutes on the port bow…


3486. I should consider it would be about eight or ten miles off…





And later:




3503. When we got away it disappeared altogether.


3504. What coloured light was it? — I think it was red. I think there were two lights, in fact, a red and a white light.


3505. [The Commissioner] Are you sure? — I can discern any sort of colour, racing, a mile and a quarter off, and I think I could see a red light.


3506. Are you sure? — I am certain.





Quartermaster Walter Wynn:




13336. While you were in the (life)boat did you see any light or lights? — I did.


13337. What did you see? — I saw a red light first, and then the red light disappeared, and I saw a white one.


13338. What did you think the red light was? — I could not say; I put it down to a steamer.


13339. You thought it was the port light of a steamer? — Yes.


13350. …It went away, and then I saw the white light about 10 or 15 minutes afterwards again in the same direction.


13351. I think you mean this, do you not, that you assumed that the white light you saw on the later occasion was the white light you had been seeing before? — Or it might have been a stern light.





And Steward Alfred Crawford gives the following evidence:




17847. And before you left the ship’s side did Captain Smith give you any directions with regard to a light? — Yes, he pointed to a light on the port side…


17850. I should say she was 5 to 7 miles away from us…


17852. The Captain gave the directions? — Yes, he pointed the ship out…


17870. Did you yourself ever see any side-lights? — Yes…


17872. What side-light or side-lights of that steamer did you see? — There was the red and the green light.


17873. You saw them both? — Yes…


17968. [The Commissioner] This was about one o’clock in the morning? — About 1 a.m., yes…


18000. At what time was it you first saw her? — Just after one, when the Captain pointed it out.


18001. And how long had you her under observation? — Nearly all the night.


18002. What happened to her afterwards; did she come nearer to you, or did she disappear?


— I could not say. We saw the Carpathia coming up, and we turned round and made for that one.





The evidence of AB William Lucas follows:




1566. Did you see any light? — Well, I did see a light, a faint side light of another ship…


1569. Where was it? — Off my port hand as I was in the boat.


1570. Do you mean it was a port light? Was it a red or a green light? — A red light, a side light.





And Bathroom Steward Charles Donald Mackay gave the following responses:




10803. Did you see what you thought was a light? — Yes, we thought there was a ship’s stern light.


10804. Was it a white light or a coloured light? — It was a reddish light [he thinks on the starboard side of the Titanic].





Only Assistant Cook John Collins thought he saw a green light alone (US Inquiry, p.629):




…I looked back at her [Titanic’s] stern end and I saw a green light.


Senator Bourne: What did you think it was, one of your own boats?


Collins: No, sir; I did not really think of what it was until the firemen and sailors came up and said that it was a boat.


Sen. Bourne: That is, a ship?


Collins: Yes, sir.


Sen. Bourne: What became of it?


Collins: Sir, it disappeared.


Sen. Bourne: How long was it visible?


Collins: About 20 minutes or half an hour, I am sure it was.


How far away, would you think, from the Titanic? — I guess it would be about 4 miles; I am sure, 3 or 4 miles.





Some of Titanic’s lifeboats had green lights. However Collins is the only Titanic witness to specify a ship showing solely a green light. Later in his testimony he reveals:




We were drifting about there; we drifted, I am sure, a mile and a half from the Titanic, from where she sank, and there was some lifeboat that had a green light on it, and we thought it was a boat after the Titanic had sunk. We thought this green light was some boat, and we commenced to shout. All we saw was the green light. We were drifting about for two hours, and then we saw the lights of the Carpathia.





Green flares were burned during the night by Officer Boxhall in lifeboat No.2. The cumulative evidence shows that the mystery ship was showing her red light for a long time. There is no evidence whatsoever from Titanic witnesses that the mystery ship was showing simply a green side light. Yet, if the mystery ship was to be the Californian, she should have been showing her green light from the very start; a green light alone, and still a green light until all hope of rescue was cruelly extinguished.


WHY COULDN’T THEY REACH A STATIONARY SHIP?


A number of Titanic witnesses say the light, at the time they saw it, was ‘stationary,’ or ‘always seemed the same distance away’. It was even said to be ‘there all night’. Of course, if it was there, and never moved at all, then it must have been even more visible in daylight! How is it then, that a vessel, stationary all night, was not seen in the morning? Why did all boats turn around and head for the Carpathia?


This is not an academic point. It is pure common sense. A stationary ship, whose red light and masthead lights had already been seen, must be visible in the morning after hours of pulling towards her, if she remained stationary (as Californian did until 6 a.m.). Dawn broke on the morning of 15 April 1912, no later than 4.30 a.m., three quarters of an hour before the Californian engaged engines for the first time (5.15 a.m. engines started). Daylight thus came a full hour and a half before the Californian began to move. Alfred Crawford gives the following evidence relating to the time of daybreak (US Inquiry, p.114):




Senator Smith: What time did the day break on Monday?


Steward Alfred Crawford: About 4 o’clock, I should say, it began to get light.





And here is James Gibson, Apprentice Officer aboard SS Californian:




7594. If it was twenty minutes to four it was not very far off the beginning of dawn, was it? — No, dawn was just breaking.





Harold Cottam, wireless operator aboard SS Carpathia, states (US Inquiry, p.109):




About 20 to half past 4, ship’s time, just as the dawn was coming on; about half past 4 in the morning.


Senator Smith: It was nearing dawn?


Mr Cottam: Yes, sir.





Arthur Rostron, captain of the Carpathia (question 25551) claimed that ‘it was daylight at about 4.20 a.m.’ Herbert Pitman, Titanic Third Officer, gave the following evidence (US Inquiry, p.292):




Yes; that must have been about 4 o’clock.


Senator Smith: Daybreak?


Pitman: It was just breaking day; yes.





And passenger Major Arthur Peuchen agreed (US Inquiry, p.350):




Senator Newlands: What time did the dawn come?


Peuchen: We could just commence to distinguish light, I think, about near 4 o’clock.





The Californian was stationary in the after-dawn (up to 6 a.m.), as it had been stationary all night. Not a single person in any lifeboat gave sworn evidence of seeing the mystery ship in daylight after hours of hard rowing in her direction. If she was still there, they might at least have carefully marked her funnel colour, the most basic aid to identification. The Californian’s funnel was pink. But nobody saw anything of the ship they had pursued. Crawford, quoted above about the dawn, was in boat No.8. He and his occupants had made most progress of all towards the light, and were furthest from the Carpathia, the ship which eventually arrived to rescue survivors.


Crawford is questioned below:




18052. You have not told us what distance you rowed in the direction of these lights? — I should say between 3 and 4 miles [see Titanic officer estimates of the ship being around 5 miles away]. By the time the morning came we were furthest away from the Carpathia.


18053. Did they [the lights] ever appear to get any nearer? — No.





Lookout Reginald Lee said (question 565): ‘There was a ship apparently ahead of the Titanic, as she was then, but that ship was supposed to have disappeared. Anyway, we did not see her in the morning.’


Passengers could, however, see icebergs; survivor Arthur Peuchen estimating one to be 5 miles away, while Titanic Third Officer Herbert Pitman saw the lights of the eventual rescue vessel Carpathia ‘about half past three, as near as I can recollect… we could see the masthead light over five miles on a clear night’. They had rowed strenuously towards a mystery light, and now with a clear view in daylight, they could not see any other steamer.


Perhaps, like Fleet, Lee, Captain Smith, Fourth Officer Boxhall, Fifth Officer Lowe, and so many others, they were all mistaken. How many mistakes of blindness would that be? There were 712 survivors, therefore 712 ‘mistakes’… Yet the 712 did not make any mistake in seeing the smoke, then the funnel, then the faint shapes, then the reality of the Carpathia. They should have seen two ships. They should have had a choice. They only saw one ship – Carpathia – and had no choice.


Think about the Carpathia, with a huge height advantage over the lifeboats. If there was a stationary ship within a 5 mile radius, the Carpathia could not have helped but see her. And, unlike the Titanic, there was nothing to stop her eventually reaching such a vessel, as would be required, to check whether she had any survivors, being so close to the scene. But the arriving Carpathia saw no such ship in the vicinity. That ship had gone.


The problem is summed up by Crawford in boat No.8 (US Inquiry, pp.829–830):




Senator Fletcher: But you could see the lights very distinctly?


Crawford: Very distinctly; yes, sir.


Senator Fletcher: How was it that when day broke, and the sun rose, you could not see any ship?


Crawford: I could not say. We saw the other ship coming to us, and we turned around for it.


Senator Fletcher: But you could see nothing in the way of a ship or vessel, or anything, where these lights were?


Crawford: No, sir.





The same dilemma confronted Quartermaster Arthur Bright in collapsible ‘D’ (US Inquiry, p.838):




Senator Fletcher: You did not see any ship or vessel of any sort next morning, in the direction of the light that you had seen during the night?


Bright: No. That seemed to disappear all at once. The next we saw was the Carpathia, just before daylight.


Sen. Fletcher: How far were you from her when you first saw the Carpathia?


Bright: About 4 miles.


Sen. Fletcher: You say that was before daylight?


Bright: Just before daylight, she came in sight.





The mystery ship was not there all night because she was demonstrably not there in the morning. She had moved. Californian did not move. Therefore Californian is not the mystery ship.


An alternative is, as many puzzled and exhausted passengers and crew came to believe, that the mystery light was ‘imaginary’, a figment of nature, or a star. If this is the case, then it automatically exculpates the Californian. But stars do not have red and green lights and masthead lights and they certainly do not approach.


The ‘imaginary light’ suggestion cannot explain what was patiently watched by experienced officers who were using binoculars on the boat deck. And so it must be found that a close ship, with coloured lights, did indeed exist and did indeed come very close at one point to the sinking Titanic.


We should also bear in mind that a light on the horizon will always look stationary from a lifeboat – until it disappears. This is like watching a ship from the beach on a trip to the seaside, except that at night there are no visible landmarks by which to check progress. There is also the point that, for some of the night at least, the mystery ship, having approached, was stationary (in Boxhall and Buley’s expressed view) before pulling away.


Some of the ‘stationary’ evidence undoubtedly backs up Boxhall, but fails to mention the disappearance, and the reasons for this can only be guessed at. However, it can be readily observed that the quality of being stationary can be a moveable feast – a witness who says ‘the light was stationary’ does not inherently exclude the possibility that it later vanished, as indeed it did and must have done.


It is perhaps wise to beware of inexperienced witnesses giving impressions from a hopeless vantage point, as is the case with the accounts of civilian passengers in lifeboats. Yet those who insist Californian must be the mystery ship would have us believe the impressions of just some of these members of the British and American public, untrained in observation, sitting flat on the sea, who say ‘the light was stationary’ as if this were a categorical position the whole night. Because ‘morning-after evidence’ refutes it completely.


No, surely it is preferable to rely on the night-before accounts of Joseph Boxhall and his experienced fellow officers. These were trained men, with long years of night observations behind them, and with Boxhall and Smith using binoculars. And all the officers had a better vantage point: Titanic’s deck, 70ft up. Now consider the poor vantage point of the lifeboats, whose limited field of vision will prove a key point in the debate. Those in the Titanic lifeboats continued to see not just the masthead light, but the red side light of the mystery ship even after they got down on the water. This kills the idea that the mystery ship was any distance away other than the closeness described by Titanic officers.


The horizon of the lifeboats is small. How can occupants of such craft, set adrift on the New York track, see a vessel on the Boston track (Boston-bound Californian being labelled the mystery ship)?


The mystery ship was near. Quartermaster Walter Wynn (lifeboat No.9) claims:




13336. While you were in the (life)boat did you see any light or lights? — I did.


13337. What did you see? — I saw a red light first, and then the red light disappeared, and I saw a white one.


13338. What did you think the red light was? — I could not say; I put it down to a steamer.





The side light was below the bridge of the ship observed, far below the masthead light! AB William Lucas (collapsible ‘D’) gives the following responses:




1566. Did you see any light? — Well, I did see a light, a faint side light of another ship.


1569. Where was it? — Off my port hand as I was in the (life)boat. Do you mean it was a port light? Was it a red or a green light? — A red light – a side light.





To recall the evidence of nightwatchman James Johnson (lifeboat No.2):




3502. Then you had not gone very far towards the light? — A mile and a half. I am certain we pulled that.


3503. Did this light seem to get fainter or did it disappear suddenly?— When we got away it disappeared altogether.


3504. What coloured light was it? — I think it was red. I think there were two lights, in fact, a red and a white light.


3505. [Lord Mersey] Are you sure? — I can discern any sort of colour, racing, a mile and a quarter off, and I think I could see a red light.


3506. Are you sure? — I am certain.





And, in addition, here is the evidence of Bathroom Steward Charles Mackay (lifeboat No.11):




10802. Did you see a light while you were in the [life]boat? — A supposed light do you mean?


10803. Well, I do not know whether it was a supposed light or not. Did you see what you thought was a light? — Yes, we thought there was a ship’s stern light.


10804. Was it a white light or a coloured light? — It was a reddish light.


10805. And you thought it was the stern light of a ship? — Yes.


10809. And did you row towards that light? — For a matter of about two hours as hard as we could row.





To develop this point further: the height of the crossbench or ‘thwart’ in a Titanic lifeboat was less than 2ft (most chair seats are only 18in high). Imagine that a man is standing up on the thwart – and furthermore that he happens to be the tallest man in the world at the time, a strapping 7½ft tall. Lop off 6in to get 7ft as the height of his eye. Plus 2ft for the thwart height, gives 9ft off the water. Now we will find the mileage from the lifeboat to the horizon, which has retracted sharply from standing on the Titanic because of the reduced height of the observer. An age-old formula says it is 1.17 times the square root of the height of one’s eye (9ft in this case). Square root is three. Three times 1.17 is 3.51 nautical miles. The lifeboat horizon for the world’s tallest man, then, is a maximum of 3½ miles. This must be added to 7.8 miles (the Californian’s own visible horizon) for any element of a ship the height of the Californian to be seen. This amounts to 11.3 miles. For the tallest man in the world, standing up on a thwart, just glimpsing the looming of a masthead light, with everything else hull down. Any further and nothing at all will be seen. Just the darkness.


But a side light is much further down than a masthead light, and the lifeboat occupants are of average height, sitting down. They continued to see the red light of the mystery ship from the lifeboats. The realistic distance to that ship is thus of the order of 5 miles – until she disappears.


Let us now recap what is indicated by testimony thus far. Firstly, the mystery ship was moving. Yet the Californian was stationary. Secondly, the mystery ship showed her red light ‘most of the time’. Yet the Californian, if she were indeed the mystery ship, would have been showing Titanic her green light. Thirdly, the lifeboats could not make any progress to the mystery ship, nor see her in the morning; if the mystery ship was indeed the Californian, they should have made progress and seen her after dawn. Lastly, we can observe that the mystery ship came very near at one point, because even her red sidelight, below the bridge, could be seen from the lifeboats. In short, the evidence thus far from Titanic observers is against the mystery ship being the Californian. And it is worth repeating – the issue is the Titanic’s mystery ship. Titanic witnesses have no reason to lie!
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THE MYSTERY SHIP GOES AWAY


We can recall that some Titanic witnesses claimed that the light was ‘stationary’, ‘there all night’, and ‘always seemed the same distance away’. For the record, it should be indicated that this was by no means the universal feeling. And we know that the mystery ship was quite evidently not there in the morning.


It is argued here that Boxhall, the Fourth Officer charged with observing the mystery ship, got it right when he saw a light approach, develop into two masthead lights, become a ship showing both red and green side lights, and then turn to starboard, and lie apparently stationary there for some time, showing only the red light (port side) ‘most of the time’ to the Titanic. What happened later?


Let us see how Boxhall describes that mystery ship arrive, turn, then appear to move slowly, but inexorably, away (US Inquiry, pp.933–934):




Boxhall: I think I saw the green light before I saw the red light, as a matter of fact. But the ship was meeting us. I am covering the whole thing by saying the ship was meeting us.


Senator Burton: Your impression is she turned away, or turned on a different course?


Boxhall: That is my impression.


Sen. Burton: At a later time, when you were in the boat after it had been lowered, what light did you see? [Boxhall went away in boat No.2 around 1.45 a.m., more than an hour after he first saw the light]


Boxhall: I saw this single light, which I took to be her stern light, just before I went away in the boat, as near as I can say.


Sen. Burton: How long did you see this stern light?


Boxhall: I saw it until I pulled around the [Titanic’s] stern [to the starboard side, blocking his view]. I had laid off a little while on the port side, on which side I was lowered, and then I afterwards pulled around the ship’s stern, and, of course, then I lost the light, and I never saw it anymore.


Sen. Burton: Her course, as she came on, would have been nearer to your course; that is, your course was ahead, there, and she was coming in toward your course?


Boxhall: Yes, sir; she was slightly crossing it, evidently. I suppose she was turning around slowly.


Sen. Burton: Is it your idea that she turned away?


Boxhall: That is my idea, sir…


Sen. Burton: She kept on a general course toward the east, and then bore away from you, or what?


Boxhall: I do not think she was doing much steaming. I do not think the ship was steaming very much, because after I first saw the masthead lights she must have been still steaming, but by the time I saw her red light with my naked eye she was not steaming very much. So she had probably gotten into the ice, and turned around.


Sen. Burton: What do you think happened after she turned around? Do you think she went away to avoid the ice?


Boxhall: I do not know whether she stayed there all night, or what she did. I lost the light. I did not see her after we pulled around to the starboard side of the Titanic.


Sen. Burton: Then you lost track of her?


Boxhall: Yes.


Sen. Burton: And you saw her no more after that?


Boxhall: No, sir.





First class passenger Archibald Gracie remained on deck after Boxhall had left and, indeed, after all the lifeboats were gone. He wrote in his 1913 book The Truth About the Titanic:




To reassure the ladies of whom I had special charge, I showed them a bright white light of what I took to be a ship about five miles off and which I felt sure was coming to our rescue. Colonel Astor heard me telling this to them and he asked me to show it, and I pointed the light out to him… but instead of growing brighter the light grew dim and less and less distinct and passed away altogether.





There now follows a sample of Titanic witnesses who felt the ship or light went away. If they are correct and the ship was underway, then she was not the Californian. But do not necessarily rely on these accounts, as no witness in a lifeboat can be realistically relied upon. These extracts are intended merely to show that it was not universally agreed that the Titanic’s mystery ship was ‘there all night’, ‘stationary’ or ‘always the same distance away’. Let us now leave it with experienced seafarers, not civilian passengers, and hear the opinions of crew only. Firstly, AB George Symons:




11712. Did you row towards the light that you had mentioned? — We were rowing for the light. The light bearing roughly on our port beam when we were rowing away from the ship.


11715. Did you appear to be catching it up at all? — No I thought my own self she was gradually going away from us.





We also have the evidence of Quartermaster Robert Hichens:




1183. Could you tell at all whether the light was moving or whether it was still? — The light was moving, gradually disappearing. We did not seem to get no nearer to it.


1184. As I understand you, it seemed to get further away from you? — Yes, sir.





Lookout Fred Fleet states the following (US Inquiry, p.326):




We pulled for it, but we did not seem to get any nearer to it…


Senator Smith: How close could you get to it?


Fleet: She was getting away off…





Able Seaman Frank Osman (US Inquiry, p.539):




Senator Burton: When did you last have a sight of that light? – About an hour afterwards.


What do you think about it? Did it sail away? – Yes, sir; she sailed right away.





Here is Seaman William Lucas:




1804. You saw nothing more of the vessel to which those lights belonged? — No; the light went further away every time we looked at it.





Nightwatchman James Johnson claims:




3503. Did this light seem to get fainter or did it disappear suddenly? — When we got away it disappeared altogether.





Steward Alfred Crawford (US Inquiry, p.828):




Senator Smith: Did you see any more of that light than you have now described?


Crawford: No. At daybreak it seemed to disappear. We came around and came back.





Quartermaster George Rowe responded as follows (US Inquiry, p.524):




Senator Burton: Do you think there was a sailing boat there?


Rowe: Yes, sir.


Sen. Burton: And was she going away from you?


Rowe: Toward daylight the wind sprung up and she sort of hauled off from us.





Able Seaman Edward Buley gives an extensive account (US Inquiry, p.611):




There was a ship of some description there when she struck [this ‘when she struck’ is a lazy phrase: Buley was ‘sitting in the mess reading when she struck’, in his own evidence (US Inquiry, p.603), and he first saw the light ‘when turning the boats out’ after midnight (p.612)] and she passed right by us. We thought she was coming to us; and if she had come to us, everyone could have boarded her. You could see she was a steamer. She had her steamer lights burning…


Senator Fletcher: How far away was she?


Buley: Three miles, sir, I should judge… No; we could not see anything of her in the morning when it was daylight. She was stationary all night; I am very positive for about three hours she was stationary, and then she made tracks.


Sen. Fletcher: Did you see that ship before you were in the water?


Buley: Yes, sir; I saw it from the ship. That is what we told the passengers. We said: ‘There is a steamer coming to our assistance’. That is what kept them quiet, I think.


Sen. Fletcher: Did she come toward you bow on?


Buley: Yes, sir; bow on toward us; and then she stopped, and the lights seemed to go right by us.


Sen. Fletcher: If she had gone by you, she would have been to your stern?


Buley: She was stationary there for about three hours, I think, off our port [side] there, and when we were in the boat we all made for her, and she went by us. The northern lights are just like a searchlight, but she disappeared.





The quality of Buley’s eyesight – ‘I can see a distance of 21 miles, sir’ (US Inquiry, p.612) may perhaps be attested by his graphic account of the Titanic breaking in two before she sank. This was a fact disbelieved by the British Inquiry, which declared that ‘the ship did not break in two’ (Final Report, p.34). Buley’s account was verified seventy-three years on, however, after the discovery of the two halves on the sea bed. He had this to say in 1912 (US Inquiry, pp.609–610 – the four answers are here compressed):




She went down as far as the after funnel, and then there was a little roar, as though the engines had rushed forward, and she snapped in two, and the bow part went down and the afterpart came up and stayed up five minutes before it went down… We could see the afterpart afloat, and there was no forepart to it. I think she must have parted where the bunkers were. She parted at the last, because the afterpart of her settled out of the water horizontally after the other part went down. First of all you could see her propellers and everything. Her rudder was clear out of the water… You could hear the rush of the machinery, and she parted in two, and the afterpart settled down again, and we thought the afterpart would float altogether. She uprighted herself for about five minutes, and then tipped over and disappeared… You could see she went in two, because we were quite near to her and could see her quite plainly.





Buley must be an excellent witness, possessing the sharp vision that he claimed to have. His account, along with all the other evidence, suggests that the mystery ship approached, turned, showed a red side light while lying stationary, and later showed a stern light as she turned once more to starboard and cruelly fled the scene. The Californian, by contrast, did not move all night.



WHAT WAS SHE?


Boxhall thought that the mystery ship he saw was a three-mast or four-mast steamer. He is the best witness to this point. He had the ship under observation, with glasses, for the longest period. The Californian was a four-masted steamer, but an immobile one. Yet not all agreed with Boxhall’s observations. There is confusion, and even contradiction, in the numerous attempts to identify the mystery ship. There are passengers who think that the light was a fishing boat, but it is quite obvious folly to place any reliability whatsoever on passenger identification of a light at sea at night. We will look only at crew, ranked in order of seniority. Second Officer Lightoller states:




13894. I had already been calling many of the passengers’ attention to it, pointing it out to them and saying there was a ship over there, that probably it was a sailing ship…


14138. I was perfectly sure it was a light attached to a vessel, whether a steamship or a sailing ship I could not say.





Third Officer Pitman seems more certain:




15061. Did you see any light or lights which you took to be the light or lights of another steamer? — I saw a white light which I took to be the stern light of a sailing ship.





Quartermaster Hichens guessed at the type of vessel sighted:




1339. We expected it to be a steamer from the ship, but when I got into the boat and could not get nearer to it, and being calm weather, then we expected it to be a fishing boat, a cod-banker, as we call it.





Quartermaster Bright was confident of sail, not steam (US Inquiry, p.836):




It looked to me like a sailing ship – like a fishing boat. There were no lights to be seen about the hull of the ship, if it was a ship.





Quartermaster Rowe had little doubt about what he saw (US Inquiry, p.524):




Do you think there was a sailing boat there? — Yes, sir. I think there was a ship there. Indeed, I am sure of it, and that she was a sailer.





Yet, Lookout Lee was not certain:




2568. The light disappeared. Whether it was a fishing vessel or a steamer, or what she was, I do not know.





Lookout Fleet was similarly reluctant to speculate (US Inquiry, p.358):




It might have been a fisher sail, or something; it was only just one bright light. I could not say what it was.





At the British Inquiry, he offered no more information (question 17453):




I could not tell what it was, it might have been a sailing ship, or it might have been a steamer.





AB Symons (question 11478) said: ‘I took the light to be that of a cod-bankman – or fishing vessel’. And AB Frank Osman opined (US Inquiry, p.538): ‘I thought it was a sailing vessel from the banks’.


Nine separate crewmen then, including two ranking officers, suggest that the vessel might possibly have been a fishing craft. They must all be mistaken if the mystery ship is to be the Californian. And there is separate evidence that fishing boats were in the vicinity.


FISHING VESSELS ON THE SCENE


On 18 April 1912, the Belfast Newsletter reported a Reuters story that:




The Captain of the Ultonia [of the Cunard Line], which arrived at New York at midnight on the 16th instant, reported that he passed over the Titanic’s route and had seen a number of fishing boats near where the disaster occurred.





The Dow Jones news agency had also reported:




The Captain of Leyland Line freighter Etonian, which was not equipped with wireless and which docked in North River last night, reports that he passed along [the] route taken by Titanic and that a number of fishing boats were in the vicinity of the disaster at the time. He says he thinks many of the passengers if they secured life preservers may have been rescued by crews of fishing vessels.





But let us choose to ignore these claims and instead place reliance on Fourth Officer Boxhall who, it must be remembered, was armed with time, height, and binoculars. At the US Inquiry, the prime witness made clear his settled opinion (p.911):




Senator Fletcher: She could not have been a fishing vessel?


Boxhall: No, sir.


Sen. Fletcher: Was she a sailing vessel?


Boxhall: No, sir; a sailing vessel does not show steaming lights, or white lights.





And, later: ‘She might have been a four-mast ship or might have been a three-mast ship, but she certainly was not a two-mast ship’. It must thus be assumed, as the key evidence indicates, that the mystery ship was indeed a steamer, and one of some size.


CHOICES AND SIGNPOSTS


First the good news – we are finished for now with Titanic witnesses. Soon we shall examine what happened on the Californian that night. It is undoubtedly right that we should not rush away from the Titanic witnesses to get to the Californian. That haste in 1912 prevented the British and US Inquiries from properly analysing the evidence of the Titanic witnesses about a vessel that was, after all, their perplexing nearby ship, the one close enough to effect a rescue and to save hundreds of lives. The Titanic witnesses claim that their strange ship was moving and showed a red side light for most of the time she was present. It appears she could have shown a stern light as she later ‘made tracks’.


In deciding whether Californian could have been the Titanic’s mystery ship, we are now at a crossroads. We can take one of two routes. Either we can trust that Boxhall and others are correct, in which case Californian is not the mystery ship. Or we can believe that they are wrong, which still leaves the Californian as a potential mystery ship.


A reader having followed the thread of evidence to this point, concentrating on the Titanic witness testimonies, could be forgiven for already having severe doubts as to any possibility of the Californian being the mystery ship. Yet we must go down both routes signposted above, and see where they lead us. It may be noted that those in 1912 who rushed to label the Californian as the mystery ship seemed to feel no inclination to make any scenic tour in the other direction.


The inquiries effectively ignored the most credible Titanic witnesses, deeming them mistaken, and disregarded the preponderance of Titanic evidence as somehow irrelevant. A patient reader would certainly form a contrary impression.


So let us walk a hundred yards down the ‘Believing Boxhall’ road for a quick look at the vista it affords, before returning to take the short-cut to the Californian’s guilt.


If Boxhall and others are right, Californian is not the mystery ship. The corollary of this, of course, is that some other vessel is the mystery ship, and that the Californian is unseen by Titanic. Therefore the Californian lay over the visible horizon. If this is the case, she must have been at least 17 miles away (and probably more) according to unimpeachable scientific formulae. This is because 17 miles is the maximum observable mileage over the curvature of the earth for someone at 70ft, the height of Titanic’s bridge looking at an object the height of the Californian. If the distance becomes any larger than this, any object (such as a mastlight) disappears. The ship is said to be ‘hull down’ over the horizon, and unseen. The corpus of Titanic evidence, by marked contrast, puts the mystery ship approaching and visibly closing to 5 or 6 miles away, well inside the horizon. If Boxhall and others are right, then it makes perfect sense that the Titanic’s distant rockets should only rise halfway towards the masthead light of a ship which had stopped close to the Californian, and which was under observation by her.


This is what the Californian says she observed. Boxhall’s direct opposite number on the Californian was Second Officer Herbert Stone. He spent the longest time observing his vessel’s own nearby ship and was the only one to witness all the rockets seen by the Californian (although whether Californian saw all the rockets fired by the Titanic is another story, as we shall see). The Californian’s very own ‘Boxhall’ then, Second Officer Herbert Stone, testified that the rockets he saw ‘did not go very high’, rising about halfway up to the masthead light of the Californian’s unknown ship. Stone was quite specific in his evidence:




7921. Tell me what you said to the Chief Officer? — I have remarked at different times that these rockets did not appear to go very high; they were very low lying; they were only about half the height of the steamer’s masthead light and I thought rockets would go higher than that.





Only accepting Boxhall and other Titanic witnesses as creditworthy makes sense of what Stone says he saw. Only if the Titanic lies over the horizon from the Californian and a considerable distance away will those rockets rise halfway to the masthead light. And let it be said that halfway to the masthead light does not mean ‘halfway up the mast’. The masthead light could be located typically about two-thirds distance up the mast. Either way, the rockets he saw rose less than halfway up the mast of the nearby ship – ‘very low lying’ indeed.


OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
TITANIC

AND THE MYSTERY SHIP

e STNAN MOLONY \
R >






OEBPS/images/title.jpg
TITANIC

AND THE MYSTERY SHIP

SENAN MOLONY






OEBPS/images/image-7.jpg





OEBPS/images/image-13.jpg
PDSTALTELEGRAPH@ COMMERCIAL CABLES

TELEGRAM

S200 ant deputizet to serve eubpoens on the

Tou ara heredy sut
x of the Stenmerip Calizorata now at

Gmptatn i+
Boston ant schetuled to satl Saturday Evening pext ad to bring
fornta to azpear fortazith
v

10g of the Stasaantp c

Before subcommitte on Commerse U. 5. Senste, ¥ashn. D. C.

beas tham promptly and will not datatn them.
5. 4. Zansdel,

Bergeans st Arss, U. 5. Semste.

[I——

s Marora:





OEBPS/images/image-25.jpg





